**IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals**

RECEIVED
May 22 2023
SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

George M. McFaddin, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2023-CP-26-0313

(Appellate Case No. 2023-000048)

Kenneth Dippel, Appellant

v.

State of South Carolina, 15th Circuit Solicitors Office,
And SLED, Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Kenneth Dippel, Pro Se for Appellant
4931 Forest Drive
Loris, SC 29569
Phone: (843) 877-5535
Email: krf28472@gmail.com

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. What is the legal definition of the word '*penalty*' referenced in S.C. Code § 22-5-910 (A)?
2. Is expungement eligibility for a first-time conviction - S.C. Code § 22-5-910 (A) based on the '*penalty*' a presiding judge decides in a sentencing order?
3. Does South Carolina law prohibit the reconsideration of any criminal sentence following the end of the term of Court the penalty imposed even when a post-conviction relief application has newly discovered facts?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Dippel was charged with violating S.C. Code § 16-9-320(B), resisting arrest, assault, beating, or wounding a police officer during the serving process on May 2, 2018 **(R. 93)**. The Horry County Solicitor subsequently offered Mr. Dippel a plea bargain whereby if Mr. Dippel pleaded guilty to misdemeanor resisting arrest, he would receive a penalty of one day suspended in jail with credit for his confinement at J Reuben Long Detention Center and pay a \$128.75 fine.

Mr. Dippel, through Attorney Thomas Winslow, accepted the Solicitor's plea bargain agreement. The Solicitor filed a Petition to

transfer Mr. Dippel's case from General Sessions to the Magistrate's Court **(R. 94)**. Mr. Dippel and his Counselor appeared before Horry County Magistrate Brad Mayer for sentencing on December 7, 2018. Magistrate Brad Mayer accepted the plea bargain agreement. He decided Mr. Dippel's penalty would be to serve one day suspended in jail with credit for confinement at J. Reuben Long Detention Center and to pay a \$128.75 fine **(R.97)**.

Mr. Dippel, on December 5, 2021, obtained a copy of his criminal record from SLED. The record details only the original felony of resisting arrest, assaulting, beating, or wounding a police officer during serving **(R. 98 – R. 99)**. Horry County Solicitor Employee Heather Bell received Mr. Dippel's application to expunge the misdemeanor resisting arrest conviction on December 7, 2021 **(R. 78)**. The Horry County Solicitor's Office prosecutes cases on behalf of the State and manages and processes expungement applications in Horry County. *S.C. Code § 17-22-940(B)* sets forth policies and procedures the Solicitor's office must implement to ensure the expungement process is correctly done.

Mr. Dippel, on January 18, 2022, filed a Summons and Complaint for breach of contract, gross negligence, and an application for post-conviction relief **(R. 81 – R. 87)**. Horry County Solicitor employee Heather Bell predetermined Mr. Dippel was not eligible for expungement

because the charge potentially carried a maximum penalty of 1-year imprisonment. Mr. Dippel, on January 19, 2022, sent a fax to SLED requesting the felony charge, assault on a police officer while resisting arrest, corrected **(R. 101 – R. 104)**. SLED, in response, later entered on Mr. Dippel's criminal record the final disposition reflecting Mr. Dippel pleaded guilty to misdemeanor resisting arrest and received a penalty of 1 day in jail and pay a fine of \$128.75.

The Horry County Solicitor filed a response to Mr. Dippel's complaint and a motion to dismiss on February 3, 2022 **(R. 105 – R. 106)**. Heather Bell, in the Horry County Solicitor's office on March 15, 2022, sent a responsive email to Mr. Dippel: *"Although you received a time served sentencing, the penalty or potential sentence you could have received for this offense was up to one-year imprisonment and a \$500 to \$1000 fine."* **(R. 108)**.

The Solicitor's employee Heather Bell forwarded to Mr. Dippel an email and an attachment from Kristen Mixon, Program Coordinator / Expungement Supervisor, on March 18, 2022, saying: *"Please see attached. This would not be eligible for expungement because the charge carries a penalty over 30 days."* **(R.109)**. The attachment entitled *"IN THE COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS ORDER FOR DESTRUCTION OF ARREST RECORDS"* was initialized by "K.M.,"

who is Kristen Mixon at SLED on December 29, 2021 **(R. 110 – R.111)**. Mr. Dippel, in response, sent a *“Motion to Alter or Amend”* per Rule 15, SCRCP, on March 22, 2022 **(R. 112 – R. 113)**. Judge Christi Curtis granted Mr. Dippel's "Motion to Alter or Amend" on June 1, 2022. **(R. 1 – R. 3)**.

Mr. Dippel filed his Amended Complaint and Motion for Summary Judgment on June 9, 2022 **(R. 115 – R. 141)**. The Solicitor filed an answer on July 8, 2022, and a summary judgment motion for dismissal **(R. 142 - R. 147)**. SLED filed a summary judgment asserting that the charge Mr. Dippel was seeking expunged carries a penalty greater than 30 days in jail **(R. 148 – R. 153)**.

Judge George M. McFaddin, Jr., on September 12, 2022, sent the parties a letter saying he was granting the Defendant's summary judgment motion and was denying Mr. Dippel's summary judgment motion. In his letter, Judge George M. McFaddin, Jr. requested SLED Attorney Mr. Whitsett to prepare the order **(R. 169)**. Mr. Dippel, in response, filed a timely *“Motion to Alter, Amend, Vacate Judgment”* on September 15, 2022 **(R. 170 – R. 173)**.

On November 29, 2022, the Horry County Clerk of Court entered an order granting Respondents' summary judgment and dismissing Mr. Dippel's "Expungement Petition" and post-conviction **(R. 4 – R. 11)**. Mr.

Dippel, in response, filed on December 2, 2022, a timely reconsideration motion (**R. 176 – R. 179**). Rule 59(f), SCRCP states: "*The time for appeal for all parties shall be stayed by a timely motion under this Rule and shall run from the receipt of written notice of entry of the order granting or denying such motions.*"

Judge George M. McFaddin Jr. denied Mr. Dippel's reconsideration motion on December 20, 2022 (**R. 12 – R. 14**). Mr. Dippel filed his timely appeal in response (**R. 185 – R. 186**).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This matter is before the Court on Appellant Kenneth Dippel's motion for summary judgment and Respondents' Horry County Solicitor and SLED's motion for summary judgment. The issue becomes a question of law for the Appellate Court to decide de novo because there are cross-motions for summary judgment. *Wiegand v. U.S. Auto. Ass'n*, 391 S.C. 159, 163, 705 S.E. 432, 434 (2011).

Furthermore, this Honorable Court's review involves the interpretation of a statute. Interpretation of a statute is a question of law for the Court to review de novo. *S. C. Pub. Int. Found. v. Calhoun County. Council*, 432 S.C. 492, 495, 854 S.E. 2d 836, 837 (2021). Deciding the proper interpretation of S.C. Code § 22-5-910

(A) is a question reviewed de novo without deference to the lower Court. The Appellate Court can settle the question based on its assessment of which interpretation and reasoning would best comport with this State's law and public policies and the Court's sense of law, justice, and right. *Lambries v. Saluda County Council*, 409 S.C. 1, 7-8, 760 S.E. 2d 785, 788 (2014).

ARGUMENTS

1. The Lower Court Committed Error in Dismissing the Appellant's Expungement Petition by Summary Judgement

The lower court ruling typed up by SLED Attorney Mr. Whitsett **(R. 169)** and signed by Judge George M. McFaddin, Jr., dated November 29, 2022, granted Appellees' summary judgment by concluding:

*S.C. Code Ann. § 22-5-910 is limited to "a crime carrying a penalty of not more than thirty days imprisonment "(emphasis added). I find that this is clear and unequivocal statutory language that the **potential penalty of the charge of conviction** is the appropriate consideration for eligibility pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 22-5-910. However, the Petitioner's conviction was a crime that carried a sentence of imprisonment of "not more than one year," which exceeds the "not more than thirty days" eligibility requirement of S.C. Code Ann. § 22-5-910. Petitioner's argument that he is entitled to an expungement because he was sentenced to less than 30 days does not comport with the plain language of S.C. Code Ann. § 22-5-910". **(R. 6)**.*

This rationale is based upon a mistaken interpretation of S.C.

Code§ 22-5-910(A):

*"Following a **conviction** for a crime **carrying a penalty** of **not more than thirty days imprisonment or a fine of one thousand dollars, or both**, the defendant after three years from the date of the conviction, including a conviction in magistrates or general sessions court, may apply, or cause someone acting on his behalf to apply, to the circuit court for an order expunging the records of the arrest and conviction and any associated bench warrant."*

Nowhere in S.C. Code § 22-5-910(A) is there a clear, unambiguous legal definition defining the word "penalty" as the potential maximum punishment outlined in a penal statute such as in this case, S.C. Code § 16-9-320(A):

*"It is unlawful for a person knowingly and willfully to oppose or resist a law enforcement officer in serving, executing, or attempting to serve or execute a legal writ or process or to resist an arrest being made by one whom the person knows or reasonably should know is a law enforcement officer, whether under process or not. A person who violates the provisions of this subsection is guilty of a misdemeanor and, upon conviction, must be fined not less than five hundred dollars nor more than one thousand dollars or **imprisoned not more than one year** or both".*

Furthermore, there is no clear, unambiguous legislative history whereby our State Legislature intended "penalty" as the "possibility" of receiving the maximum punishment in a penal statute without sentencing order consideration. The Court should look to the standard dictionary meaning to supply the definition of "penalty." *Lee v. Thermal Engineering Corp.*, 352 S.C. 81, 91-92, 572 S.E. 2d 298. 303 (Ct. App. 2002) ("where a word is not

defined in a statute, our appellate courts have looked to the usual dictionary meaning to supply its meaning"). The Miriam Webster Dictionary defines penalty as "the suffering in person, rights, or property annexed by law or judicial decision to the commission of a crime or public offense." *Penalty, Black's Law Dictionary* 1368 (11th ed. 2019) defines '*penalty*' as punishment imposed on a wrongdoer, usually in the form of imprisonment or fine. Black's Law Dictionary further defines punishment as the "*penalty*" inflicted upon a person by the authority of the law and the judgment and sentence of a court for a crime or offense committed by him.

Our State Legislature intended to leave the penalty determination to the sound discretion of a judge in a sentencing order when there is a conviction for a penal statute violation. Thus, "*penalty*" is the punishment a judge imposes in a sentencing order. Furthermore, S.C. Code § 16-9-320(A), like any other South Carolina penal statute, serves only as a sentencing guideline for judges. Therefore, common sense dictates expungement eligibility must be based on an objective determination, whereby "*penalty*" is the punishment decided by a judge in a sentencing order.

The penalty definition in S.C. Code § 22-5-910(A) as being the punishment imposed by a judge in a sentencing order is supported by the

words "*following a conviction*" contained in S.C. Code § 22-5-910(A) when factoring in the Appellant's conviction was predicated upon a plea bargain and negotiated sentence whereby if the Appellant pleaded guilty to a misdemeanor arrest, he would receive a suspended 1-day jail sentence credit for time served and a \$128.75 fine **(R. 97)**. There is a moral obligation for the Court in this case to enforce the plea bargain against the Respondents. S.C. Code § 22-5-910(E) states:

As used in this section, "conviction" includes a guilty plea, a plea of nolo contendere, or the forfeiting of bail. For this section, any number of offenses for crimes carrying a penalty of not more than thirty days imprisonment or a fine of one thousand dollars, or both, for which the individual received sentences at a single sentencing proceeding that are closely connected and arose out of the same incident may be considered as one offense and treated as one conviction for expungement purposes.

The typed-up order by SLED Attorney Mr. Whitsett, endorsed by Judge George M. McFaddin Jr., ignores the Horry County Solicitor offered Mr. Dippel the plea bargain and negotiated sentence. No conviction would have occurred without Mr. Dippel and his Attorney's acceptance. It would be at this point a travesty of injustice in place of the plea bargain and negotiated sentencing for this Court to rule that Mr. Dippel is not eligible for expungement because the crime he pleaded guilty carries a penalty

greater than 30 days. Also, it would violate the plea agreement and be a breach of contract.

Furthermore, it would contradict the magistrate's jurisdictional statute. There was a transfer order per the plea bargain and negotiated sentence whereby the Solicitor endorsed Mr. Dippel's case transfer from General Sessions to Magistrate Court as in the plea agreement and negotiated penalty for sentencing. S.C. Code § 22-3-550(A) specifically says: *“Magistrates have jurisdiction of all offenses which may be subject to the penalties of a fine or forfeiture not exceeding five hundred dollars, or imprisonment not exceeding thirty days, or both.”*

Therefore, common sense dictates the crime Mr. Dippel pleaded guilty misdemeanor of resisting arrest, carries a *“penalty”* of less than 30 days. Mr. Dippel's case would never transfer from General Sessions to Magistrate Court in the first instance if the *“penalty”* specified in the first-time conviction statute S.C. Code § 22-5-910(A) were greater than 30 days. Also, Mr. Dippel and his Attorney would never accept the Solicitor's plea bargain if the *“penalty”* specified in the first-time conviction statute S.C. Code § 22-5-910(A) was greater than 30 days. In summary, the *“penalty”* set in the first-time conviction statute S.C.

Code § 22-5-910(A) is the "penalty" decided by the magistrate judge in the sentencing order when considering the dictionary definition of penalty, the plea bargain with the sentence negotiated agreement, and the magistrate's jurisdictional statute.

The Respondent's typed order, endorsed by Judge George M. McFaddin Jr., concluded expungement is a privilege and not a right, such that Mr. Dippel has no entitlement to expungement, fails as a matter of law. Individuals seeking to have a first-time conviction expunged are entitled to due process of law, to have their expungement eligibility fairly and correctly decided by the proper interpretation of S.C. Code § 22-5-910(A), and have a right to appeal to the Circuit Court to seek a judicial determination of eligibility when the Solicitor in his discretion does not consent to the expungement. S.C. Code§ 17-22-940 (E) specifically says:

"Nothing in this article precludes an applicant from retaining counsel to apply to the solicitor's office on his behalf or precludes retained counsel from initiating an action in circuit court seeking a judicial determination of eligibility when the solicitor, in his discretion, does not consent to the expungement."

2. South Carolina Law Allows Review Post-Conviction Relief Based on Newly Discovered Evidence

This Court will uphold the findings of the PCR court when there is any evidence of probative value to support them. *Jordan v. State*, 406

S.C. 443, 448, 752 S.E. 2d 538, 540 (2013). However, this Court reviews questions of law de novo and must reverse a lower court decision on post-conviction relief when an error of law controls it. *Goins v. State*, 397 S.C. 568, 573, 726 S.E. 2d 1, 3 (2012).

The typed-up order by Respondents, endorsed by Judge M. McFaddin Jr., dismissed the Appellant's post-conviction relief: "*South Carolina law prohibits the reconsideration of any criminal sentence following the expiration of the term of court occurring and expiring in 2018.*" However, the South Carolina Uniform Post-Conviction Procedure Act (PCR Act) mandates lower court review when evidence of newly discovered facts not previously presented and heard requires a vacation of the conviction or sentence. S.C. Code § 17-27-45(C) allows application filings within one year of the date of actual discovery of the facts or from the date when the facts "could have been ascertained by the exercise of reasonable diligence". *Jamison v. State*, 765 S.E. 2d 123 (S.C. 2014).

S.C. Code § 17-27-20 (A) states any person may institute a post-conviction proceeding and seek relief who claims there exists evidence of material facts, not previously presented and heard, that requires vacation of the conviction or sentence in the interest of justice - S.C. Code § 17-27-20 (A)(4), and that the conviction or sentence is otherwise subject to collateral attack upon any ground

of alleged error heretofore available under any common law, statutory or other writs, motion, petition, proceeding or remedy; may institute, without paying a filing fee, a proceeding under this chapter to secure relief. S.C. Code§ 17-27-20 (A) (6).

The Appellant has claimed post-conviction relief because of the newly discovered evidence whereby the Horry County Solicitor did not honor the plea bargain afforded to him. The Appellant asserts the Solicitor, **by not sending a modification order (see R. 164 and R. 168) for the judge to sign**, the Horry County Clerk of Court could not give SLED the final disposition of his case, resulting in the **original felony charge** being left on his criminal record. The Appellant contends this was only discoverable with due diligence on December 5, 2021, when he began pursuing the misdemeanor resisting arrest expungement.

SLED's Computerized Criminal History (CCR) Manual states that a modification/change form **must be** received and processed by SLED before the Court's issuance of an order of expungement of the original charge (**R. 165**). Furthermore, SLED's Computerized Criminal History (CCH) Manual states:

"However, when a defendant is charged with an offense which required incarceration and booking, and that the charge is reduced or changed to an offense which also would have required incarceration and booking, the

defendant's criminal record at SLED must be amended to reflect the subsequent charged." (R. 164).

"When SLED receives the completed, the original charge will be deleted from the defendant's record, and the original UTT number will be applied to the new lesser included offense pled to or convicted of." (R. 165 and R. 167).

The misdemeanor resisting arrest is a reduced or lesser offense than the felony resisting arrest and assault on a police officer, which upon receiving a modification order from Horry County, required SLED to remove the original felony charge resisting arrest/assault on a police officer. The Appellant's criminal history still has never been updated by SLED correctly. The felony charge is still on Mr. Dippel's criminal history. However, he never pled guilty to felony assault on a police officer and was given a Solicitor plea bargain whereby if he pleaded guilty to the misdemeanor resisting arrest, he would receive a suspended sentence serving one day in jail with credit for time served, and pay a \$128.75 fine (R. 97). The Solicitor, SLED, and the State of South Carolina have not honored the plea bargain to date.

Furthermore, Mr. Dippel, at the hearing before Judge M. McFaddin Jr., specifically told the Court his Attorney, Thomas W. Winslow had conversations with the Solicitor's prosecuting Attorney whereby if Mr. Dippel accepted the plea bargain, the charge would be on his criminal history for three years. The charge would be eligible for

expungement after three years from the date of conviction if Mr. Dippel did not have any other convictions within three years after conviction (**R. 47, Lines 9 - 18**). Mr. Dippel knowing now the Solicitor and SLED have reneged on the plea bargain by claiming the misdemeanor resisting arrest is not eligible for expungement, would have never pleaded guilty to misdemeanor resisting arrest in the first instance. For all these reasons, the Court should enforce the plea bargain against the Solicitor, SLED, and the State by issuing an order directing SLED to remove the felony charge from Mr. Dippel's criminal record history.

CONCLUSION

The Appellant, Kenneth Dippel, prays to God and the Lord that this Honorable Court will vacate and reverse the granting of summary judgment to the Respondents and grant equitable relief.