RECEIVED

Jun 09 2023

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

George M. McFaddin, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2023-000048

Kenneth Dippel,

Appellant,

v.

State of South Carolina, 15th
Circuit Solicitor's Office, and
SLED

Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

The Honorable Alan Wilson
Attorney General for the State of South Carolina

William M. Blich, Jr.
Senior Assistant Attorney General

The Honorable Jimmy A. Richardson, II
15th Circuit Solicitor

Adam L. Whitsett, Esquire
SLED General Counsel
Post Office Box 21398
Columbia, South Carolina 29221-1398
(803) 896-0647

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. **The trial court did not err in granting Respondents' summary judgment in this matter.**
- II. **The trial court did not err in finding that Appellant did not seek post-conviction relief in his amended pleadings in this matter.**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This action commenced on January 18, 2022 when Appellant filed a pleading entitled “Application for Post Relief Conviction”. (Application)(R. pp. 79-91). The parties to that action were Appellant and the “State of South Carolina”, and the causes of action set forth in that pleading were for breach of contract, gross negligence, and post-conviction relief. *Id.* The 15th Circuit Solicitor’s Office filed a Response and Motion Pursuant to Rule 12(b), SCRCP on behalf of the State of South Carolina seeking dismissal of the pleadings. (Motion to Dismiss)(R. pp. 105-6). This motion also indicated that the Attorney General’s Office would be “preparing and filing a response in this case.” *Id.* Subsequently, Appellant filed a Motion to Amend Petition for Expungement. (Motion to Amend)(R. p. 112). Appellant also filed a “Petition for Expungement” naming the “State of South Carolina – Horry County Solicitor’s Office & SLED” as Defendants. (Initial Petition)(R. pp. 187-95). before The Honorable Kristi F. Curtis heard the 12(b) Motion and the Motion to Amend on June 1, 2022. Judge Curtis granted Appellant’s Motion to Amend, directed Appellant to file an Amended Complaint within 30 days, and continued the 12(b) Motion. (Curtis Order)(R. pp. 1-3). Thereafter, Appellant filed the present action entitled “Amended Complaint: Petition Expungement / Motion Summary Judgment” (Amended Complaint)(R. pp. 115-26). This amended pleading does not seek post-conviction relief. *Id.*

Respondents' SLED and the 15th Circuit Solicitor's Office filed respective Motions for Summary Judgment on behalf of all Respondents. (Respondents' Motions for Summary Judgment)(R. pp. 147-153). The Honorable George M. McFaddin, Jr. heard these motions on August 29, 2022, and granted summary judgment on all causes of action in an order filed on November 29, 2022. (McFadden Order) (R. pp. 4-11). Appellant subsequently filed a Rule 59 – Motion Reconsideration, Alter, Amend, Judgment, which was denied on December 20, 2022. (Reconsideration Motion)(R. pp. 12-14). This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Appellant was arrested for felony Assault on Police Officer While Resisting Arrest (S.C. Code Ann. § 16-9-320(B)) on or about May 2, 2018. (Order p. 2)(R. p. 5). Appellant pled guilty to the lesser included offence of misdemeanor Resisting Arrest in violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 16-9-320(A)¹ on or about December 7, 2018, in Transfer Court. *Id.* Appellant was sentenced to 1 day but was given credit for time served and ordered to pay a fine of \$128.75. *Id.* Appellant subsequently sought an expungement of this conviction pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 22-5-910. *Id.* At that time, Appellant's December 2018 misdemeanor conviction did not appear on his SLED criminal history record. *Id.* After learning of the missing disposition, SLED promptly updated Appellant's criminal history record to accurately reflect Appellant's May 2018 arrest for felony Resisting Arrest, and December 2018 conviction for misdemeanor Resisting Arrest. *Id.* However, Appellant's expungement request was denied based upon S.C. Code Ann. § 22-5-910.

¹ S.C. Code Ann. § 16-9-320(A) provides "A person who violates the provisions of this subsection is guilty of a misdemeanor and, upon conviction, must be fined not less than five hundred dollars nor more than one thousand dollars or imprisoned not more than one year, or both."

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“Summary judgment is appropriate when the pleadings, depositions, affidavits, and discovery on file show there is no genuine issue of material fact such that the moving party must prevail as a matter of law.” Rules Civ. Proc., Rule 56; Knight v. Austin, 396 S.C. 518, 521-2, 722 S.E.2d 802, 804 (2012).

“The purpose of summary judgment is to expedite the disposition of cases which do not require the services of a fact finder.” Englert, Inc. v. Leafguard USA, Inc., 377 S.C. 129, 133-4, 659 S.E.2d 496, 498 (2008).

When an appeal involves stipulated or undisputed facts, an appellate court is free to review whether the trial court properly applied the law to those facts. WDW Properties v. City of Sumter, 342 S.C. 6, 10, 535 S.E.2d 631, 632 (2000) (citing J.K. Constr., Inc. v. Western Carolina Regional Sewer Authority, 336 S.C. 162, 519 S.E.2d 561 (1999)).

ARGUMENTS

I. The trial court did not err in granting Respondents' summary judgment in this matter.

In South Carolina, expungement eligibility pursuant S.C. Code Ann. § 22-5-910 is specifically limited to “*a crime carrying* a penalty of not more than thirty days imprisonment...”(emphasis added). This is clear and unequivocal statutory language that the *potential* penalty of the charge of conviction (*i.e.* what penalty the *crime* itself *carries*) is the appropriate consideration for eligibility pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 22-5-910. In this case, Appellant’s conviction was of a *crime* that *carried* a sentence of imprisonment of “not more than one year”, which clearly exceeds the “not more than thirty days” eligibility limitation of S.C. Code Ann. § 22-5-910. Appellant’s argument that he is entitled to an expungement because he was sentenced to less than 30 days simply does not comport with the plain language of or the intent of S.C. Code Ann. § 22-5-910. It is axiomatic that “[i]f the legislature’s intent is clearly apparent from the statutory language, a court may not embark upon a search for it outside the statute.” Hodges v. Rainey, 341 S.C. 79, 87, 533 S.E.2d 578, 582 (2000); Abell v. Bell, 229 S.C. 1, 91 S.E.2d 548 (1956). Accordingly, the trial court’s decision should be upheld.

Further, Appellant’s argument regarding the lack of a specific definition of the word penalty in S.C. Code Ann. § 22-5-910 is unavailing. The South Carolina Legislature drafted S.C. Code Ann. § 22-5-910 to specifically provide that the crime of conviction is the determining factor regarding eligibility. The language involved demonstrates a clear intent that the determination is not based on circumstances of the individual in question or the sentence that the individual received. Rather, the determination is based solely on the crime of conviction. *See* Hodges v. Rainey, 341 S.C. 79, 85, 533 S.E.2d 578, 581 (2000)

citing Norman J. Singer, *Sutherland Statutory Construction* § 46.03 at 94 (5th ed. 1992) (“What a legislature says in the text of a statute is considered the best evidence of the legislative intent or will. Therefore, the courts are bound to give effect to the expressed intent of the legislature.”)

Comparing the language of S.C. Code Ann. § 22-5-910 and S.C. Code Ann. § 22-5-920 demonstrates this point. To that end, S.C. Code Ann. § 22-5-910 applies to *crimes* “carrying a penalty of not more than thirty days imprisonment...” and does not include a reference to the actual sentence an individual received. In contrast, in S.C. Code Ann. § 22-5-920, the South Carolina Legislature specifically provided that the actual sentence the individual received should be incorporated into the analysis as it contains the following language “[f]ollowing a first offense conviction as a youthful offender for which *a defendant is sentenced* pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 19, Title 24, Youthful Offender Act,....” (emphasis added). Had the South Carolina Legislature intended for the actual sentence (*i.e.* “the penalty”) to be the determining factor in a S.C. Code Ann. § 22-5-910 expungement analysis, they would have surely included similar language to that used in S.C. Code Ann. § 22-5-920. However, the Legislature did not. As such, Appellant’s arguments regarding his expungement eligibility fail as a matter of law. *See Hodges v. Rainey*, 341 S.C. 79, 86, 533 S.E.2d 578, 582 (2000) (“The canon of construction ‘*expressio unius est exclusio alterius*’ or ‘*inclusio unius est exclusio alterius*’ holds that ‘to express or include one thing implies the exclusion of another, or of the alternative.’ Black’s Law Dictionary 602 (7th ed. 1999).”). Accordingly, the trial court’s grant of summary judgment should be affirmed.

Similarly, Appellant's other claims set forth in the Amended Complaint also failed as a matter of law and the trial court should be affirmed in the entirety. At the time of Appellant's conviction S.C. Code Ann. § 14-17-325 (1989) provided that

Every **clerk of court** shall report the disposition of each case in the Court of General Sessions to the State Law Enforcement Division within thirty days of disposition. The disposition report must be in a format approved by representatives of the State Law Enforcement Division and the office of court administration. With the approval of the State Law Enforcement Division and the office of court administration, this reporting requirement may be satisfied by use of General Sessions docket information transmitted to the office of the court administration. (emphasis added).

This provision sets forth the statutory responsibility for disposition reporting of general sessions cases and places that responsibility on the clerk of court – not the solicitor nor the solicitor's office. A plain reading of this statute precludes any action against the solicitor's office on this issue. As such, Appellant's reliance on S.C. Code Ann. § 17-1-40(B)(4) is misplaced and unavailing because this statute does not supersede or shift the responsibility provided in S.C. Code Ann. § 14-17-325, which again provides that a clerk of court – not the solicitor's office shall report dispositions to SLED.²

In addition, S.C. Code Ann. § 17-1-40(B)(4) does not have any application to this action. For starters, this provision is predicated and solely contingent on solicitor discretion. In fact, S.C. Code Ann. § 17-1-40(B)(4) plainly states “[i]f a person pleads guilty to a lesser offense **and the solicitor deems it appropriate...**” (emphasis added). The existence of this prosecutorial discretion in this instance does not create a viable cause of action in this matter. As such, Appellant's reliance on S.C. Code Ann. § 17-1-40(B)(4) is unavailing and the trial court properly held that this claim fails as a matter of law.

² It is noteworthy that the language S.C. Code Ann. § 14-17-325 creates no private action.

Similarly, Appellant's 5th Amendment claim is based on SLED "resorting to 'lip service' and not supplying Mr. Dippel a copy of a formal written decision setting forth the reasons and bases (sic) of their decision violated Mr. Dippel's 5th Amendment constitutional right to due process of law which includes the right of notification" fails as a matter of law. S.C. Code Ann. § 17-22-940(B)(4) requires the solicitor's office to coordinate "with the South Carolina Law Enforcement Division (SLED) and, in the case of juvenile expungements, the Department of Juvenile Justice, **to confirm that the criminal charge is statutorily appropriate for expungement....**"(emphasis added). Further, S.C. Code Ann. § 17-22-940(E) provides that

SLED shall verify and document that the criminal charges **in all cases**, except in cases when charges are sought to be expunged pursuant to Section 17-1-40, Section 17-22-150(a), Section 17-22-530(A), Section 17-22-330(A), or Section 44-53-450(b), **are appropriate for expungement before the solicitor or his designee, and then a circuit court judge, or a family court judge in the case of a juvenile, signs the application for expungement.** If the expungement is sought pursuant to Section 34-11-90(e), Section 22-5-910, Section 22-5-920, Section 63-19-2050, or Section 56-5-750(f), the conviction for any minor traffic-related offense that is not related in any way to driving under the influence of alcohol or other drugs will not be considered as a bar to expungement. (emphasis added).

However, no provision of South Carolina law requires either SLED or the Solicitor's Office to provide an expungement applicant with a "formal written decision", nor does any provision of the state or federal constitution. Nevertheless, as correctly noted by the trial court, the record demonstrates that both SLED and the Solicitor's Office provided ample notice of the reasoning for the expungement denials in this matter. As such, the trial court properly held that this claim failed as a matter of law, and summary judgment was appropriate. Accordingly, the trial court's decision should be upheld.

Appellant’s magistrate court jurisdictional arguments are also without merit. South Carolina Code Ann. § 22-3-545 sets forth the authorization and procedures for the transfer of certain general sessions court cases to magistrate’s court for disposition. The Appellant’s case was resolved in Transfer Court pursuant to this provision. (McFadden Order p.)(R. p. 5). Further, this argument has no bearing on the application of S.C. Code Ann. § 22-5-910 to Appellant’s expungement request. Accordingly, the trial court’s decision should be upheld.

II. The trial court did not err in finding that Appellant did not seek post-conviction relief in his amended pleadings in this matter.

In addition, Appellant failed to raise any claim for post-conviction relief in his Amended Complaint / Petition Expungement / Motion Summary Judgment filed on June 9, 2022. (Amended Complaint)(R. pp. 115-26). In granting Appellant’s Motion to Amend his Complaint, Judge Curtis did not put any limitation on the causes of action that could be brought. (Curtis Order)(R. pp. 1-3). As such, Appellant was not foreclosed from attempting to bring such claims; however, Appellant chose to limit his amended filing to the causes of action set forth in the “Amended Complaint: Petition Expungement / Motion Summary Judgment” (Amended Complaint)(R. pp. 115-26). Appellant cannot now rely on his January filing, which he chose to supersede by filing an Amended Complaint with different causes of action. *Id.*³ Appellant also did not seek additional leave to further amend his Amended Complaint. As such, Respondents contend that Appellant has abandoned any post-conviction relief arguments in this action. (Amended Complaint)(R. pp. 115-26). Accordingly, the trial court’s decision should be upheld.

³ Notably, the requirements of South Carolina’s Uniform Post-Conviction Procedure Act (S.C. Code Ann. §§ 17-2-10 et seq.) were not followed in either filing or action.

Further, Appellant's after-discovered evidence post-conviction complaint appears related to the fact that his misdemeanor conviction did not initially appear on his SLED criminal history record. This is not after-discovered evidence that would give rise to a viable post-conviction relief action. *See generally* S.C. Code Ann. §§ 17-2-10 et seq. Further, this claim is now moot because SLED has in fact corrected Appellant's criminal history record to accurately reflect Appellant's May 2018 arrest for felony Resisting Arrest, and December 2018 conviction for misdemeanor Resisting Arrest. (Order p. 2)(R. p. 5). As such, the trial court's decision should be upheld in its entirety.

Moreover, to the extent Appellant's Amended Complaint can be read as a challenge to his original underlying sentence, Respondents would assert that South Carolina law prohibits the reconsideration of the same at this time. South Carolina law prohibits a challenge to the criminal sentence beyond the expiration of the term of court at which the sentence is imposed, to wit: a term of court occurring and expiring in 2018 in this instance. As such, Respondents aver that Appellant is prohibited from attacking the legality of his 2018 conviction or sentence, or from seeking to modify the same at this time. *See State v. Best*, 257 S.C. 361, 368, 186 S.E.2d 272, 275 (1972) (citing *State v. Thompson*, 122 S.C. 407, 115 S.E. 326 (1922); 24 C.J.S. Criminal Laws 1590, p. 607; 21 Am.Jur.(2d) Criminal Law, Section 569, p. 537). Accordingly, the trial court's decision in this matter should be upheld in its entirety.

CONCLUSION